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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
FORTH WORTH DIVISION

DATA MARKETING PARTNERSHIP, LP,
etal.,,

Plaintiffs,
Civil Action No. 4:19-cv-00800-O
V.

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF
LABOR, et al.,

Defendants.

N N N N N N N N N N N N N

SUPPLEMENTAL COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY/INJUNCTIVE RELIEF
COME NOW Plaintiffs Data Marketing Partnership, LP (“DMP”), and LP Management

Services, LLC (“LPMS”) (collectively “Plaintiffs’), and by way of supplemental complaint against
Defendants United States Department of Labor (“the DOL”), Acting Secretary of Labor Julie A.
Su (“Su”), and the United States of America (collectively “Defendants”) state as follows:

INTRODUCTION

1. At stake in this suit are welfare plans which provide health coverage for more than
30,000 individuals. Plaintiffs have sought to protect these plans under the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act (“ERISA”), 29 U.S.C. 8 1001, et seq., by petitioning (a) the DOL for an
advisory opinion acknowledging such protection, and (b) this Court for an injunction enjoining
Defendants from denying such protection. Defendants have fought these petitions vigorously.
Now, rather than face potential judicial defeat, Defendants have tied imminent or
contemporaneous litigation against Plaintiffs’ vendors to Plaintiffs’ withdrawal of their DOL
petition and the dismissal of this suit. This extortive strategy threatens not only the reputation and

financial viability of Plaintiffs’ vendors but the plans themselves which are dependent upon the
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services of Plaintiffs’ vendors. By undertaking this strategy Defendants are (a) infringing on
Plaintiffs” First Amendment Petition rights; (b) circumventing the authority of this Court to hear
Plaintiffs” petition; (c) violating the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”); and (d) jeopardizing
the health coverage of more than 30,000 individuals who, without the plans, would need to
scramble to find higher-priced health insurance elsewhere. Plaintiffs seek injunctive relief from
this Court ending Defendants’ actual and threatened unlawful and harmful course of conduct.

. FIRST AMENDMENT

2. The First Amendment “right to petition the government for a redress of grievances
is “one of the most precious of the liberties safeguarded by the Bill of Rights,” and is “high in the
hierarchy of First Amendment values.” Lozman v. City of Riviera Beach, Fla., 585 U.S. 87, 101
(2018). “The right to petition is cut from the same cloth as the other guarantees of [the First]
Amendment, and is an assurance of a particular expression of freedom.” McDonald v. Smith, 472
U.S. 479, 482 (1985). The right to petition the government for redress of grievances is such a
fundamental right as to be “implied by ‘[t]he very idea of a government, republican in form.””’BE &

K Const., 536 U.S. at 524-25.

3. The right to petition “extends to all departments of the Government”, including
administrative agencies and courts. Cal. Motor Transport Co. v. Trucking Unlimited, 404 U.S.
508, 510 (1972) (“The right of access to the courts is indeed but one aspect of the right of petition™).
The right to petition includes not just petitions to redress grievances but petitions to influence
government action. E.R.R. Pres. Conf. v. Noerr Motor Freight, Inc., 365 U.S. 127, 143 (1961).

4. It is a violation of the First Amendment for the federal government to directly or

indirectly thwart, or endeavor to thwart, the availability of judicial machinery to resolve disputes

with a federal court. Doe v. Schneider, 443 F.Supp. 780, 787 (D.Kan. 1978). An unconstitutional
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deprivation of the right of access to the courts takes place “when government officials thwart
vindication of a claim by violating basic principles that enable civil claimants to assert their rights
effectively.” Barrett v. U.S.., 798 F.2d 565, 575 (2" Cir. 1986).

5. “Retaliation, though it is not expressly referred to in the Constitution, is nonetheless
actionable because retaliatory actions may tend to chill individuals' exercise of constitutional
rights.” ACLU of Md., Inc. v. Wicomico County, 999 F.2d 780, 785 (4th Cir. 1993).

6. Even otherwise lawful conduct by government officials can run afoul of the First
Amendment. In Bantam Books, Inc. v. Sullivan, 372 U.S. 58, 67 (1963), the Supreme Court
affirmed that the First Amendment prohibits government officials from relying on the “threat of
invoking legal sanctions and other means of coercion ... to achieve the suppression” of disfavored
speech. Just this past term, in NRAv. Vullo, 602 U.S. 175 (2024), the Supreme Court acknowledged
in a 9-0 decision that actionable coercion includes actions directed at vendors which do business
with the person or entity who exercised rights guaranteed by the First Amendment. Similarly, in
American Motor Club, Inc. v. Corcoran, 644 F.Supp. 862 (S.D.N.Y. 1986), the U.S. District Court
for the Southern District of New York issued a preliminary injunction against the New York
Department of Insurance which, in response to a civil rights action against the Department by an
automobile club, allegedly threatened the licenses of brokers who sold memberships in the
automobile club. See also Floridians Protecting Freedom, Inc. v. Ladapo, et al, Case No. 4:24-
cv-00419 (N.D. Florida).

7. Federal courts are empowered to issue general injunctive relief that enjoins a
government defendant from retaliating against or otherwise infringing upon a plaintiff’s rights
under the First Amendment. Mahan v. Texas Dept. of Public Safety, No. 9:20-CV-119-RC-ZJH,

2020 WL 6935555 at *3 (E.D.Tex. Oct. 29, 2020).
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I1. THIS COURT’S INHERENT AUTHORITY

8. Just this past term, in Loper Bright Enterprises v. Raimondo, 144 S.Ct. 2244, 2266
(2024), the Supreme Court confirmed that federal “agencies have no special competence in
resolving statutory ambiguities. Courts do.”

9. The Fifth Circuit recognizes that a federal court may issue injunctive relief to
protect the court’s inherent authority and control of its docket. Baum v. Blue Moon Ventures, LLC,
513 F.3d 181 (5" Cir. 2008); Farguson v. MBank Houston, N.A., 808 F.2d 358, 359 (5" Cir. 1986).
Indeed, the traditional standards for issuing relief (i.e., irreparable injury and inadequate remedy
at law) are inapplicable to such injunctions. Id. The court’s power to enter such orders flows not
only from various statutes and rules relating to sanctions, but the inherent power of the court to
protect its jurisdiction, its judgments, and to control its docket. Fargason, 808 F.2d at 359; Citizens
Bank & Trust Co. v. Case, 931 F.2d 1014 (5" Cir. 1991).

10.  Asacknowledged by Chief Judge Lay in McBride v. Coleman, 955 F.2d 571, 582-
83 (8" Cir. 1992):

“The federal courts must have the inherent authority to enforce executive branch

compliance with judicial orders which serve to restore to the status quo a party injured as

a direct result of the government’s contumacious conduct. Otherwise, the judiciary would

be powerless to impose the most effective remedy for ensuring compliance with its order

against the most frequent litigant in the federal courts.”
See also Chilcutt v. U.S., 4 F.3d 1313, 1327 (5" Cir 1993) (citing Judge Lay).

11.  The exercise of inherent authority over parties by a federal court “is particularly
appropriate for impermissible conduct that adversely impacts the entire litigation.” First Bank of
Marietta v. Hartford Underwriters Ins. Co., 307 F.3d 501, 516 (6" Cir. 2002).

12. A U.S. District Court hearing a particular case possesses the power to enjoin the

filing of related lawsuits in other courts. Kerotest Manufacturing Co. v. C-O-Two Fire Equipment

Co., 342 U.S. 180 (1952).
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I11. BENEFITS OF ERISA

13. In an Aug. 1, 2023 publication, the U.S. Chamber of Commerce recognized:
“For nearly 50 years, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA) has provided
the framework needed to provide a stable employer-sponsored insurance (ESI) system. As
the single largest source of health benefits in the United States, ESI provides health
coverage for nearly 160 million American workers and their families. ERISA underpins
the success of system, playing an important role to keep employer-sponsored health
coverage accessible and affordable... ERISA works for ESI. This foundation is critical to
keeping our health care system efficient and cost-effective for tens of millions of American
workers. For nearly five decades, ERISA has successfully strengthened the ESI system and
contributed to the growing number of Americans covered by ESI plans.”

14.  The legal protections afforded these millions of Americans by ERISA are uniform
and strict. As noted by the Supreme Court: “ERISA’s primary aim is to protect individuals who
participate in employee benefit plans” and “[t]o effectuate this goal, Congress established “strict
standards’ of conduct for those with discretionary authority over employee benefit plans.” Cent.
States, Se. & Sw. Areas Pension Fund v. Cent. Transp., Inc., 472 U.S. 559, 570 (1985).

IV. PLAINTIFFS’ PETITIONS AND DEFENDANTS’ RESPONSES

15. In reliance upon and in comportment with Supreme Court precedent and prior DOL
advisory opinions, Plaintiffs design and sponsor single employer employee welfare plans to
comply with ERISA. The plans (“Partnership Plans”), which collectively provide affordable health
insurance to more than 30,000 individuals, combine limited partners with common law employees.

16. In 2018, Plaintiffs petitioned Defendants directly for an advisory opinion, in
accordance with ERISA Procedure 76-1. Plaintiffs specifically requested acknowledgment by the
DOL that the Partnership Plans are subject to ERISA, and therefore not subject to regulation by
state insurance departments.

17.  Almost immediately after this petition, Defendants undertook an investigation,
which came to be known as the “Anjo Investigation”, of vendors for the Partnership Plans,

including (a) Suffolk Administrative Services, LLC (“SAS”), which co-developed, owns, and

5
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provides the intellectual property necessary to operate the Partnership Plans; and (b) Providence
Insurance Company (“P1C”), which provides reinsurance needed to protect and provide financial
capacity and stability for the self-funded Partnership Plans. Defendants would not have undertaken
an investigation of these vendors, but for the exercise by Plaintiffs of their right of petition under
the First Amendment.

18.  The Anjo Investigation evolved into threats of litigation by Defendants against SAS
and PIC, as well as Alexander Renfro (“Renfro”), a benefits attorney, former SAS principal, and
filer of the original advisory opinion request on behalf of Plaintiffs, Arjan Zieger (“Zieger”) and
William Bryan (“Bryan”), principals in both SAS and PIC (collectively “the Anjo Targets”). These
threats included allegations and monetary demands which would bankrupt and destroy the business
reputations of SAS, PIC, and their respective principals.

19. Plaintiffs’ second petition was filed with this Court after Defendants issued an
Advisory Opinion finding the Partnership Plans are not subject to ERISA. Plaintiffs’ First
Amended Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief [Doc. 9] (“First Amended Complaint™)
specifically sought (a) vacatur of the Advisory Opinion as being arbitrary and capricious in
violation of the Administrative Procedure Act, and (b) an injunction enjoining Defendants from
refusing to acknowledge the ERISA status of the Partnership Plans.

20. Defendants’ direct response to this second petition has largely been unsuccessful.
This Court vacated the Advisory Opinion and the Fifth Circuit affirmed. The Court issued an
injunction as to Defendants, which the Fifth Circuit vacated and remanded to this Court for further
findings rather than reversing outright. Defendants” Motion for a “do-over” with respect to the
Advisory Opinion was denied by this Court. Pending before this Court is Plaintiffs’ Motion for

Summary Judgment as to the injunction.
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21. Faced with the prospect of further adverse rulings by this Court and the Fifth
Circuit, Defendants have now attempted to leverage their threats of litigation against the Anjo
Targets to indirectly achieve what they have henceforth been unable to directly achieve in this suit
— an end to Plaintiff’s two petitions. Although the Anjo Targets are not parties to this suit,
Defendants have expressly tied their fate in imminent litigation to the abandonment by Plaintiffs
of both petitions. Defendants have specifically said they would only agree to a settlement of the
imminent litigation if Plaintiffs (a) withdraw their request for an advisory opinion from DOL as
the Partnership Plans, and (b) dismiss this suit.

22.  The coercion being brought to bear on the Anjo Targets by Defendant is potentially
devastating not only to The Anjo Targets, but also to Plaintiffs. If SAS and PIC stop doing business
with Plaintiffs either involuntarily or through financial and reputational ruin in conjunction with
imminent litigation, the Partnership Plans would cease to operate. There are no other vendors
which provide the services currently provided by the Anjo Targets to the Partnership Plans. The
ability of Plaintiffs to offer group health coverage to prospective new partners through the
Partnership Plans is an important attraction and retention tool, without which Plaintiff’s core
business of aggregating and marketing large volumes of electronic data would suffer significant
impairment.

23. Lest this Court intervene with declaratory and injunctive relief against Defendants
in this lawsuit, Defendants will likely make the relief sought herein by Plaintiffs moot: the
Partnership Plans would cease to exist, and the limited partnerships which sponsor them would
suffer great financial harm. In other words, by doing an end-around of this Court, Defendants
would accomplish what Defendant’s zealous efforts have heretofore failed to accomplish, an end

to Plaintiffs’ two petitions protected by the First Amendment.
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24.  This Supplemental Complaint therefore seeks merely to preserve the integrity of
this lawsuit and maintenance of the status quo as to the injunctive relief already requested in
Plaintiffs” First Amended Complaint. As set forth further in this pleading, Plaintiffs specifically
seek a supplemental injunction enjoining Defendants from engaging in any conduct against
Plaintiffs or third parties which is intended to circumvent, moot or otherwise thwart the injunction
requested in the First Amended Complaint or its issuance by the Court.

PARTIES

25. Plaintiffs are limited partnerships aggrieved by the actions of Defendants following
their AO Request against the Anjo Targets upon whose services Plaintiffs depend in the operation
of the Partnership Plans, and the General Partner of said partnerships and other similar entities.

26. The DOL is an agency of the United States government and has responsibility for
implementing and enforcing portions of ERISA. It is an “agency” under 5 U.S.C. 8 551(1).

27. Su is the Acting Secretary of Labor and is sued solely in her official capacity.

28. The United States of America is joined as a defendant in this action as permitted by
5U.S.C. §702.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

29. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, this Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the
claims asserted in this Supplemental Complaint because this Supplemental Complaint involves
claims based on the First Amendment and because the action seeks to prevent the deprivation of
federal rights. The relief requested is authorized pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1651(a) (injunctive
relief); 28 U.S.C. 88 2201 and 2202 (declaratory and other appropriate relief); 42 U.S.C. § 1983
(deprivation of rights, privileges, and immunities secured by the Constitution); 5 U.S.C. § 702

(APA); and 42 U.S.C. § 1988 (attorney’s fees and costs).
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30.  The United States has waived its sovereign immunity in this action pursuant to 5
U.S.C. § 702, 28 U.S.C. § 2201, and 29 U.S.C. § 1132(k).

31.  Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 88 1391(b) & (e)(1).
Defendants are U.S. agencies or officers sued in their official capacities; Defendants reside in this
District; and a substantial part of the events giving rise to this action occurred in this District.

HISTORY OF APA VIOLATIONS BY DOL
32. In addition to the findings of this Court and the Fifth Circuit in this suit, federal

jurisprudence has found the DOL to have violated the APA in other decisions.

33. In New York v. United States Department of Labor, 363 F.Supp.3d 109 (D.D.C.
2019), the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia vacated, in part, the DOL rule regarding
association health plans under ERISA.

34. In Chamber of Commerce of United States of America v. United States Department
of Labor, 885 F.3d 360 (5™ Cir. 2018), the Fifth Circuit vacated the DOL’s 2016 “fiduciary rule”
under ERISA, which purported to expand fiduciaries to include broker-dealers and insurance
agents in conflict with the plain text of ERISA.

35. In Federation of Americans for Consumer Choice, Inc. v. United States Department
of Labor, Case No. 6:24-cv-163, 2024 WL 3554879 (E.D.Tex. July 25, 2024), the U.S. District
Court for the Eastern District of Texas stayed the DOL’s 2024 “fiduciary rule” under ERISA,
which purported to impose ERISA-fiduciary status on “any insurance agent who merely complies
with state insurance laws when dealing with an ERISA plan member or owner of an [IRA].”

36. In American Council of Life Insurers v. United States Department of Labor, Case
No. 4:24-cv-00482 (N.D.Tex. July 26, 2024), this Court similarly stayed the DOL’s 2024

“fiduciary rule” under ERISA as conflicting with ERISA.
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37. In American Securities Association v. United States Department of Labor, Case No.
8:22-cv-330-VMC-CPT, 2023 WL 1967573 (M.D.Fla. Feb. 13, 2023), the U.S. District Court for
the Middle District of Florida vacated, in part, guidance promulgated by the DOL interpreting its
ERISA Prohibited Transaction Exemption 2020-02, 85 Fed.Reg. 82798 (Dec. 18, 2020).

38. In Nevada v. United States Department of Labor, 275 S.Supp.3d 795 (E.D.Tex.
2017), the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Texas invalidated a 2016 DOL rule
purporting to interpret the executive, administrative and professional employee exemptions of the
Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”).

39. In Texas v. United States Department of Labor, Case No. 4:24-cv-00499, 2024 WL
3240618 (E.D.Tex. June 28, 2024), the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Texas issued
a preliminary injunction as to a 2024 DOL rule purporting to interpret the executive, administrative
and professional employee exemptions of the FLSA.

40. In Restaurant Law Center v. DOL, __ F.4" 2024 WL 3911308 (5™ Cir. Aug.
23, 2024), the Fifth Circuit vacated the DOL’s so-called 80/20/30 Rule that governed how tipped
employees must be paid under the FLSA.

41. In New York v. United States Department of Labor, 477 F.Supp.3d 1 (S.D.N.Y.
2020), the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York vacated, in part, a DOL rule
interpreting the Families First Coronavirus Response Act.

42. In New York v. Scalia, 490 F.Supp.3d 758 (S.D.N.Y. 2020), the U.S. District Court
for the Southern District of New York vacated, in part, a DOL rule narrowing the definition of

“joint employer” under the FLSA.

10
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43. In State of Kansas v. DOL, 2024 WL 3938839 (S.D. Aug. 26, 2024) the U.S.
District Court for the Southern District of Georgia issued a preliminary injunction halting the
effective date of the DOL’s farmworker protection rule.

FACTS
|. BACKGROUND
A. The DMP Plan

44.  The primary business purpose of DMP is the production, capture, segregation,
aggregation, anonymization, organization, and sale to third parties of electronic data generated by
its partners.

45, The generation and aggregation of electronic data transmitted by each limited
partner of DMP represents the most significant, income-generating commodity which DMP seeks to
sell to third parties.

46.  As a business seeking to profit from the electronic data generation, aggregation,
and sales market, DMP must collect and aggregate data generated by as many active users of its
proprietary software and mobile applications as possible.

47.  The limited partners of DMP are compensated for, control and manage the
production, capture, segregation, aggregation, and sale of, data they individually produce,
empowering Limited Partners in a manner not otherwise available to them.

48.  Toattract and retain limited partners willing to contribute the data they generate for
aggregation and sale, DMP established the DMP Plan. The DMP Plan provides health coverage
more affordable than found elsewhere in non-ERISA plans, in particular those sold to individuals
on the various “exchanges” established under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act

(ACA).

11



Case 4:19-cv-00800-O Document 66-1  Filed 11/01/24  Page 12 of 293 PagelD 1162

49.  Without the DMP Plan as a recruiting and retention tool, DMP would not be able
to successfully attract and retain limited partners willing to generate and contribute their data as
working owners for the business purpose of the limited partnership.

B. LPMS
50. LPMS is a general partner for DMP and other similar limited liability partnerships

which rely upon the participation of limited partners to contribute their electronic data for
aggregation and sale.

51. Dozens of companies, including DMP, are currently competing with each other to
gain market share in the user-driven electronic data aggregation space, which is colloquially
known as “Own Your Data,” or “OYD.” Without the DMP Plan as a recruiting and retention tool,
DMP would be severely hampered in its ability to compete in OYD, by attracting and retaining
limited partners willing to generate and contribute their data as working owners for the business
purpose of the limited partnership.

C. SAS
52. The Partnership Plans, including the DMP Plan, were established with the

irreplaceable assistance of SAS. SAS expended resources, time, and expertise to develop
compliance structures and products tailored to assist LPMS in implementing the novel Partnership
Plan structure through limited partnerships such as DMP.

53. LPMS and DMP do not have the expertise or resources to ensure proper compliance
with applicable ERISA provisions and regulations of the self-insured group health plans without
the expertise of SAS.

54, There are no companies other than SAS able and willing to provide the compliance

services to plans that utilize the structure of the Partnership Plans.

12
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D.PIC

55.  The Partnership Plans, including the DMP Plan, obtain reinsurance, or stop loss
insurance, from PIC to cover the potential financial exposure inherent in sponsoring self-insured
group health plans.

56. PIC expended resources, time, and expertise to develop insurance and reinsurance
products tailored to assist LPMS in implementing the Partnership Plans structure through limited
partnerships such as DMP.

57. LPMS and DMP do not have the revenues to properly manage the risk of covered
claims exceeding contributions without the stop loss insurance provided by PIC.

58. There are no insurance carriers other than PIC willing to underwrite the risk of
covered claims exceeding contributions to the Partnership Plans.

E. What End of Services of SAS and PIC Would Mean to DMP and LPMS

59.  Without the services provided by SAS and reinsurance provided by PIC, DMP
could not continue the DMP Plan and LPMS could not continue the other Partnership Plans.

60. If the DMP Plan and the Partnership Plans are discontinued, DMP and the other
LPMS managed limited partnerships would have more difficulty attracting and retaining partners,
thus threatening the long-term viability their core businesses, which rely upon achieving sufficient
scale to profitably monetize electronic data.

Il. PLAINTIFFS PETITION DOL FOR AN ADVISORY OPINION

61. As set forth in ERISA Procedure 76-1, DOL “invites inquiries of individuals or
organizations affected, directly or indirectly, by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act
.... as to their status under the Act and as to their status under the Act.”

62. In 2018, Renfro was retained as legal counsel for LPMS to assist it in pursuing an

advisory opinion from the DOL concerning a novel application of the “working owner” theory to

13
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the proposed Partnership Plans. At the time, Renfro was a principal of and salaried consultant to
SAS, and provided services to LPMS with the consent and participation of SAS, facts which are
known to the DOL.

63.  On Nov. 8, 2018 (revised on Jan. 15, 2019, and Feb. 27, 2019), Renfro submitted a
formal Advisory Opinion Request (“AO Request”) under ERISA Procedure 76-1 with the DOL
on behalf of LPMS, for the Partnership Plans. (See Exhibit A, attached hereto).

64.  The AO Request detailed the legal and factual basis for application of ERISA to
the Partnership Plans building upon the recognized concept under ERISA of “working owners”,
including the concepts recognized by the U.S. Supreme Court in Raymond B. Yates, M.D., P.C.
Profit Sharing Plan v. Hendon, 541 U.S. 1 (2002), and the DOL in Advisory Opinion 99-04A.

65.  Asnoted in the AO Request, LPMS sought to implement this Plan structure through
limited partnerships for which LPMS would act as general partner.

66.  Given the novel nature of the structure applicable to limited partnerships, LPMS
retained Renfro to seek guidance from DOL that the proposed application was consistent with
ERISA statutes and regulations.

67. In October 2018, prior to submitting the AO Request, Renfro attended a meeting in
Washington DC with various DOL representatives to discuss the applicability of ERISA to the
Partnership Plans. At this meeting, Renfro was representing the interests of LPMS. In attendance
at the October meeting and representing the interests of DOL was Preston Rutledge, then Assistant
Secretary of Labor for the Employee Benefits Security Administration (“EBSA”), the division of
DOL responsible for ERISA compliance and interpretations.

68. At the meeting, Renfro and other LPMS representatives explained the Partnership

Plan structure to DOL representatives and provided high level detail of the goals of the plan and

14



Case 4:19-cv-00800-O Document 66-1 Filed 11/01/24  Page 15 of 293 PagelD 1165

the business structure sought to be implemented by LPMS. At this meeting, Assistant Secretary
Rutledge told the representatives that an Advisory Opinion Request was the best route to ensure
approval of the Plan by DOL. Renfro drafted and submitted the AO Request after this meeting.

69.  On March 6, 2019, Renfro attended another meeting with various DOL officials in
Washington DC. Also attending this meeting was then Louisiana Attorney General Jeff Landry,
who was the lead signatory among seven sitting state Attorneys General of a letter sent to the DOL,
stressing the urgency of the public health problem that the LPMS structure addressed and
requesting expedited consideration of the AO Request. (See Exhibit B, attached hereto).

70. Defendants only became aware of the Anjo Targets through the AO Request.

I11. DEFENDANTS INITIATE ANJO INVESTIGATION AND THREATEN LITIGATION

71.  Within weeks of the March 6, 2019 meeting, Defendants began systematic efforts
to discredit and dismantle the Partnership Plans. In what came to be known as the “Anjo
Investigation,” - Defendants began requesting information and issuing subpoenas, starting on April
19, 2019, as to the Anjo Targets.

72.  Shortly after opening the Anjo Investigation, DOL issued numerous requests for
information and subpoenas not only to SAS and PIC, but to numerous entities doing business with
SAS or PIC. (See Exhibit C, attached hereto). The subpoenas were issued despite DOL having
never posed at the time a single written question or other formal response to the AO Request.

73. This lack of interaction on the AO Request is highly unusual for DOL’s advisory
opinion process, as questions from DOL to the requestor routinely occur following submission of
an advisory opinion request.

74. The very existence of the Anjo Investigation both frightened potential Partnership

Plan vendors and dissuaded them from providing services to the Partnership Plans. It also

15
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frightened potential vendors and partners from conducting business with SAS and PIC, both
generally and with respect to Partnership Plans.

75.  Additionally, existing vendors of SAS and PIC reduced or terminated relations with
SAS and PIC as a result of the Anjo Investigation.

76.  On Nov. 6, 2020, counsel for SAS and PIC sent a letter to all known DOL officials
involved in the investigation in an effort to seek clarity on the purpose, scope, and need for the
Anjo Investigation. (See Exhibit D, attached hereto).

77.  On Dec 14, 2020, 20 months after the commencement of the Anjo Investigation,
Katrina Liu, Trial Attorney, Office of the Solicitor of DOL (also an attorney representing DOL in
the instant litigation), responded on behalf of DOL with a letter essentially noting DOL’s “ample
authority to conduct its investigation in order to determine whether ERISA violations have or are
about to occur” noting that DOL was “not in a position to provide the specific information you
seek regarding the timing and scope” of the Anjo Investigation. (See Exhibit E, attached hereto).

78.  On Dec. 30, 2020, SAS and PIC responded to Attorney Liu with citations to
authority showing that, while broad, DOL’s investigatory authority is not as limitless as portrayed
in her December 14" letter. (See Exhibit F, attached hereto)

79.  SAS and PIC closed their reply letter with yet another request that DOL reconsider
its inexplicable approach to the Anjo Investigation. Counsel for SAS and PIC noted “In the midst
of the harsh economic impacts of this pandemic on all small businesses in America, | would hope
DOL would reconsider the position taken in your letter.”

80.  The Anjo Investigation ultimately prompted a suit in the U.S. District Court for the
District of Puerto Rico on Jan. 19, 2021 against Defendants, styled as Suffolk Administrative

Services, LLC, et al. v. U.S. Department of Labor, et al, Cause No. 3:21-CV-01031. This suit was
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dismissed on March 28, 2022, on the ground of lack of ripeness without addressing the substantive
merits.

81.  On July 21, 2022, after over three years of seemingly endless subpoenas and
“investigation,” Defendants finally gave notice to the Anjo Targets as to the substance of its Anjo
Investigation and alleged violations of ERISA. (See Exhibit G, attached hereto).

82.  After July 21, 2022, the Anjo Targets were engaged in active settlement
negotiations with Defendants.

83. Nearly one year later, on June 8, 2023, Defendants submitted their first threat of
litigation against the Anjo Targets which included an express demand for injunctive and monetary
relief. (See Exhibit H, attached hereto).

84. Progress towards settlement between Defendants and the Anjo Targets was very
slow between June 2023 and January 2024. During this time, Defendants and the Anjo Targets
entered into several tolling agreements which (1) extended the statute limitations for legal action,
and (2) precluded Defendants and the Anjo Targets from initiating any legal proceedings with
respect to the Anjo Investigation.

85. Under a continuing threat of litigation, Defendants sent the Anjo Targets, on Jan.
24, 2024, a demand for $15 million, a figure which would severely and negatively impact the
companies and lead SAS and PIC to file for bankruptcy protection..

IV. PLAINTIFFS PETITION FOR RELIEF IN THIS COURT
86.  On Feb. 3, 2020, DOL responded to the AO Request by issuing an Advisory

Opinion finding the Partnership Plans are not subject to ERISA. (See Exhibit I, attached hereto).
87.  This Advisory Opinion was the subject of the First Amended Complaint [Doc. 9]

filed herein on February 3, 2020. In a Memorandum Opinion and Order [ Doc. 37] dated Sept. 28,

2020, this Court (a) found the DMP Plan to be a single employer ERISA plan; (b) vacated the
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Advisory Opinion as arbitrary and capricious, and in material conflict with previous DOL advisory
opinions, in violation of the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”), 5 U.S.C. §8 706(2); and (c)
enjoined the DOL “from refusing to recognize the ERISA-status of the [DMP Partnership] Plan.”
On appeal, an Aug. 17, 2022 Opinion [Doc. 44] by the Fifth Circuit affirmed the vacatur of the
Advisory Opinion but remanded the matter to this Court for further findings to support its
injunction.

88.  Onremand, Defendants filed a Motion to Remand [Doc. 48] with this Court asking
for a chance at a do-over as to the Advisory Opinion. This Court denied the Motion in an Opinion
and Order [ Doc. 51] dated Aug. 11, 2023. On Jan. 15, 2024, Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Summary
Judgment [Doc. 56] and supporting Brief [Doc. 57] to reinstate the injunction enjoining the DOL
from refusing to recognize the ERISA-status of the DMP Partnership Plan.

V. DEFENDANTS DIRECTLY TIE FATE OF THREATENED LITIGATION
AGAINST ANJO TARGETS TO PLAINTIFFS’ PETITIONS

89. Immediately after signaling that certain DOL personnel were adamantly opposed
to consideration of the AO Request, the DOL initiated the Anjo Investigation.

90. As the Anjo investigation got under way, a long-scheduled June 2019 meeting
between LPMS, Plaintiffs’ representatives, and DOL was abruptly pushed back to July 2019.
When the postponed meeting finally occurred, it lasted only ten minutes and the representatives
from DOL demonstrated little interest in continuing discussions with LPMS representatives about
the Partnership Plans, or the AO Request.

91. The DOL subpoenaed more than ten entities related to LPMS and DMP as part of
the Anjo Investigation.

92. OnJan. 11, 2024, counsel for DMP and LPMS sent a letter to counsel for the DOL

as to potential settlement discussions in this suit. (See Exhibit J, attached hereto).
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93. In response, the DOL sent an e-mail on February 8, 2024 to DMP, LPMS, SAS,
PIC, and the individual Defendants proposing “global” settlement discussions as to this suit and
the threatened litigation against the Anjo Targets. (See Exhibit K, attached hereto). Counsel for
DMP, LPMS, and the Anjo Targets replied that although one individual attorney — Jonathan
Crumly of Freeman, Mathis, & Gary — had at times represented some parties in each matter, the
parties were nevertheless distinct, sharing no common ownership or control. Further, Mr. Crumly
did not and does not represent all of the targets of the Anjo Investigation, and each party was and
is represented by additional counsel. Counsel made these facts clear to the DOL, and also stressed
that no “global settlement” which favored one or more parties at the expense of others would be
possible, nor could any attorney ethically advise any client to accept demands against its self-
interest in order to assist another, separate client. The DOL nonetheless pressed for “global
settlement.”

94.  Thereafter, settlement discussions as to the Anjo Investigation accelerated
substantially once Plaintiffs and the Anjo Targets agreed to participate in “global settlement
discussions.” The DOL’s monetary demands for settling with the Anjo Targets lowered
considerably over the next two months. Even as the demands for settling with the Anjo Targets
were lowered, the DOL’s demand as to this suit remained constant — dismiss this suit entirely and
withdraw the AO Request.

95.  That any settlement with the Anjo Targets was entirely dependent upon the

dismissal of this suit was made plain in the DOL’s April 26, 2024 demand. The settlement demand
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was $5.5 million as to the Anjo Targets but was contingent upon the withdrawal of the AO Request
and the dismissal of this suit by Plaintiffs. (See Exhibit L, attached hereto).*

96.  On Friday, May 10, 2024, counsel for the DOL directly stated to counsel for
Plaintiffs and the Anjo Targets that if this suit was not dismissed, the monetary demands for
settling threatened litigation against the Anjo Targets would increase.

97.  On Thursday, May 23, 2024, counsel for the DOL repeated that the AO Request
needed to be withdrawn and this suit needed to be dismissed as part of a settlement with the Anjo
Targets. Counsel for the DOL stated that either both matters were settled together, or neither matter
would be settled.

98. In an e-mail dated Monday, May 27, 2024, counsel for the DOL again tied the
settlement with the Anjo Targets to the dismissal of this suit. (See Exhibit M, attached hereto).

99.  On Tuesday, May 28, 2024, counsel for DOL stated that if this suit were not

dismissed, the DOL’s monetary settlement demand as to the Anjo Targets would increase from

1 Although Federal Rule of Evidence 408 says that evidence of a statement made during
compromise negotiations is “inadmissible ... either to prove or disprove the validity or amount of
a disputed claim or to impeach a prior inconsistent statement or a contradiction ...”, the Rule also
states that a “court may admit this evidence for another purpose...” Purposes for which a statement
has been found to be admissible include, as here, the improper use of settlement statements to
harass or extort another person or entity. See Block v. Washington State Bar Ass’n, 860 F.App’x
508, 510 (9" Cir. 2021) (“Because the emails were offered to prove [Plaintiff’s] pattern of
harassment, they were not offered “to prove or disprove the validity or amount of a disputed claim
or to impeach,” as is required under the rule. Fed. R. Evid. 408(a)”); Collier v. Town of Harvard,
No. Civ. A.95-11652, 1997 WL 33781338 at *3 n. 10 (D. Mass. March 28, 1997) (“The other
purpose here, of course, is to show an extortionate scheme”). Since the statements made by the
DOL are themselves the basis of this Supplemental Complaint, the grounds for their admissibility
are even more compelling. See Service Employees Int'l Union v. Local 1199, 70 F.3d 647, 654, n.
7 (1st Cir.1995) (citing Overseas Motors, Inc. v. Import Motors Ltd., Inc., 375 F.Supp. 499, 537
(E.D.Mich.1974) (“it would also seem reasonable to admit such evidence where the settlement
negotiations are themselves ... operative facts”), aff'd 519 F.2d 119 (6th Cir.), cert. denied, 423
U.S. 987 (1975)).
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$5.5 million inclusive of penalties back up to $15 million inclusive of penalties, the last demand
from the DOL before it tied this suit to the settlement with the Anjo Targets.

100. On Tuesday, June 11, 2024, counsel for the DOL, responded to an inquiry from
counsel for the Anjo Targets whether the January 24, 2024 demand of $15 million was still on the
table if this case was not dismissed. The e-mail responded: “Yes, that January 24 demand is still
on the table... But we’d have to know relatively soon if your clients are interested in that offer, as
we’re planning on filing the complaint by the end of the week, and | can’t promise what our client
would be willing to do once we file.” (See Exhibit N, attached hereto)

101. Counsel for the Anjo Targets advised the DOL that even if, in order to avoid
litigation and reputational damage, their clients were willing to accept such a large and
disproportionate penalty, they would be unable to pay it immediately. The DOL refused to
entertain a payment schedule that the Anjo Targets were capable of meeting.

102. Plaintiffs did not agree to undo the findings of this Court by dismissing this lawsuit
or withdrawing the AO Request. As a result, Defendants now demand payment of $15 million in
a time frame which would likely bankrupt SAS and PIC to avoid a costly federal complaint against
them in the U.S. District Court for the District of Puerto Rico.

103. On Thursday, October 31, 2024, Defendants sent the Anjo Targets, through their
legal counsel, an e-mail expressly referencing previous settlement negotiations tying this case to
the Anjo Investigation and other investigations. (See Exhibit O, attached hereto). The e-mail
advised:

“It appears we have reached an impasse. Accordingly, with the tolling period expiring on
November 6, the Department will prepare to file suit before that date. Please advise as soon as
possible if anything changes for your clients. Otherwise, please let us know if you will accept
service of the complaint on behalf of your clients via email. [emphasis in original].”
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Previous e-mails had indicated any suit would be filed in the U.S. District Court for the District of
Puerto Rico.

VI. PLAINTIFFS’ PREDICAMENT

104. As a result of imminent litigation with Defendants, SAS and PIC are considering
terminating their relationships with the Partnership Plans to avoid bankruptcy. Both Plaintiffs and
the Anjo Targets fear retaliatory action by Defendants and believe the Defendants’ actions against
them to be retaliatory in nature.

105. Even if they do not terminate their relationships with the Partnership Plans, SAS
and PIC face financial and reputational ruin if Defendants carry through on their threat of imminent
litigation.

106. Plaintiffs are not parties to the imminent litigation threatened by Defendants against
the Anjo Targets, and cannot control or direct the prospective litigation defense.

107. The choices presented to Plaintiffs by the threats by Defendants against SAS and
PIC are two-fold.

108. One choice is to await the Court’s ruling on Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary
Judgment in this suit. A likely result of this choice is the end of the Partnership Plans irrespective
of this Court’s ruling, as the pressure being applied by Defendants against the Anjo Targets, the
services of which are essential to the continued operation of the Partnership Plans, are likely to
prove to be more than the Anjo Targets can bear. The immediate victims of this choice would be
the 30,000 individuals covered by the Partnership Plans who would need to seek health insurance
coverage elsewhere.

109. The second choice is the withdrawal of the AO Request and the dismissal of this
suit. The result of this choice would be to expose the plans to the jurisdiction of state insurance

laws in each individual state, several of which have already demonstrated hostility toward
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Partnership Plans. This is the result Plaintiffs sought to avoid in making the AO Request and
petitioning this Court for declaratory and injunctive relief.

COUNT I: VIOLATION OF FIRST AMENDMENT
RIGHTS (42 U.S.C. § 1983) AS TO AO REQUEST

110. Plaintiffs incorporate and re-allege the allegations in paragraphs 1 to 109 as if fully
set forth herein.

111. The AO Request was a petition by Plaintiffs protected by the First Amendment of
the Constitution regarding a matter of public concern, i.e., the applicability of ERISA to single
employer employee welfare plans providing health coverage to more than 30,000 individuals.

112.  Defendants have intentionally undertaken the following actions to obstruct, chill,
deter, and retaliate against Plaintiffs for submitting the AO Request, and/or to coerce Plaintiffs to
withdraw the AO Request:

a. Launching the Anjo Investigation as to the Anjo Targets, which Defendants
knew, based upon the AO Request, provided services essential to the
continued operation of the Partnership Plans;

b. Making unsupported allegations of wrongdoing against the Anjo Targets,
with inflated monetary demands, and refusing to consider or acknowledge
evidence provided by the Anjo Targets which largely, if not entirely, refutes
or mitigates said allegations and monetary demands;

C. Making exorbitant unwarranted monetary demands on the Anjo Targets,
under threat of litigation;

d. Conditioning settlement on achievable terms with the Anjo Targets on the

withdrawal of the AO Request by Plaintiffs;
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e. Conditioning settlement with the Anjo Targets, after Plaintiffs refused to
withdraw the AO Request, on a public complaint which threatened to
jeopardize their reputations in the employee benefits industry; and

f. Threatening imminent litigation or filing contemporaneous litigation
against the Anjo Targets after Plaintiffs refused to withdraw the AO
Request.

113.  Such actions have been undertaken by Defendants with full knowledge as to their
potential devastating impact on the Partnership Plans.

114. Defendants’ unlawful and intentional actions are not justified by a substantial or
compelling government interest and are not narrowly tailored to serve any such interest.

115. As a proximate result of the conduct of Defendants as alleged under this Count,
Plaintiffs have engaged legal counsel to prepare and prosecute this Supplemental Complaint.
Accordingly, Plaintiffs have incurred substantial attorney’s fees and costs.

116. Plaintiffs currently are seeking that this Court reinstate the injunction vacated by
the Fifth Circuit enjoining the Defendants “from refusing to acknowledge the ERISA-status of the
[DMP] Plan or refusing to recognize the Limited Partners as working owners of DMP.”

117. Asadirect and result of Defendants” unlawful conduct as alleged under this Count,
the DMP Plan and the other Partnership Plans now face imminent, irrevocable, and irreparable
harm which includes (a) the end of the DMP Plan and Partnership Plans and the termination of
health insurance for more than 30,000 individual participants; or (b) vulnerability of the DMP Plan
and Partnership Plans to regulation under state law rather than ERISA. Accordingly, in addition to
the permanent injunction currently sought in this suit, Plaintiffs also seek and are entitled to a

permanent injunction enjoining Defendants from engaging in any conduct against Plaintiffs or
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third parties which is intended to circumvent, moot or otherwise thwart the injunction or its
issuance by this Court.

COUNT II: VIOLATION OF FIRST AMENDMENT
RIGHTS (42 U.S.C. § 1983) AS TO THIS SUIT

118. Plaintiffs incorporate and re-allege the allegations in paragraphs 1 to 117 as if fully
set forth herein.

119. The First Amended Complaint, filed herein on Feb. 3, 2020, was a petition protected
by the First Amendment of the Constitution regarding a matter of public concern, i.e., the
applicability of ERISA to single employer employee welfare plans providing health coverage to
more than 30,000 individuals.

120.  Defendants have intentionally undertaken the following actions to obstruct, chill,
deter, and retaliate against Plaintiffs for filing the First Amended Complaint, and/or to coerce
Plaintiffs to dismiss this suit:

a. Making exorbitant unwarranted monetary demands on the Anjo Targets,
under threat of litigation;

b. Making unsupported allegations of wrongdoing against the Anjo Targets,
with inflated monetary demands, and refusing to consider or acknowledge
evidence provided by the Anjo Targets which largely, if not entirely, refutes
or mitigates said allegations and monetary demands;

C. Conditioning settlement on achievable terms with the Anjo Targets on the
dismissal of this suit by Plaintiffs;

d. Conditioning settlement with the Anjo Targets, after Plaintiffs refused to
dismiss this suit, on a public complaint which threatened to jeopardize their

reputations in the employee benefits industry; and
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e. Threatening imminent litigation or filing contemporaneous litigation
against the Anjo Targets because Plaintiffs refused to dismiss this suit.

121.  Such actions have been undertaken by Defendants with full knowledge as to their
potential devastating impact on the Partnership Plans.

122. Defendants’ unlawful and intentional actions are not justified by a substantial or
compelling government interest and are not narrowly tailored to serve any such interest.

123. As a direct result of the conduct of Defendants as alleged under this Count,
Plaintiffs have engaged legal counsel to prepare and prosecute this Supplemental Complaint.
Accordingly, Plaintiffs have incurred substantial attorney’s fees and costs.

124. Plaintiffs currently are seeking that this Court reinstate the injunction vacated by
the Fifth Circuit enjoining the Defendants “from refusing to acknowledge the ERISA-status of the
[DMP] Plan or refusing to recognize the Limited Partners as working owners of DMP.”

125. Asadirect and result of Defendants” unlawful conduct as alleged under this Count,
the DMP Plan and other Partnership Plans now face imminent, irrevocable, and irreparable harm
which includes (a) the end of the DMP Plan and the Partnership Plans and the termination of health
coverage for more than 30,000 individual participants or (b) vulnerability of the DMP Plan and
Partnership Plans to regulation under state law rather than ERISA. Accordingly, in addition to the
permanent injunction sought by the First Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs also seek and are entitled
to a permanent injunction enjoining Defendants from engaging in any conduct against Plaintiffs
or third parties which is intended to circumvent, moot or otherwise thwart the injunction or its
issuance by the Court.

COUNT I11: CIRCUMVENTION OF COURT’S AUTHORITY

126. Plaintiffs incorporate and re-allege the allegations in paragraphs 1 to 125 as if fully
set forth herein.
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127. In the First Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs seek injunctive relief to protect the
Partnership Plans under ERISA.

128. Defendants have intentionally undertaken the following actions to moot the
injunctive relief sought by Plaintiffs in this action thereby circumventing this Court’s authority to
provide such relief:

a. Making exorbitant unwarranted monetary demands on The Anjo Targets,
under threat of litigation;

b. Making unsupported allegations of wrongdoing against the Anjo Targets,
with inflated monetary demands, and refusing to consider or acknowledge
evidence provided by the Anjo Targets which largely, if not entirely, refutes
or mitigates said allegations and monetary demands;

C. Conditioning settlement on achievable terms with the Anjo Targets on the
dismissal of this suit;

d. Conditioning settlement with the Anjo Targets, after Plaintiffs refused to
dismiss this suit, on a public complaint which threatened to jeopardize their
reputations in the employee benefits industry; and

e. Threatening imminent litigation or filing contemporaneous litigation
against the Anjo Targets because Plaintiffs refused to dismiss this suit.

129.  Such actions have been undertaken by Defendants with full knowledge as to their
potential devastating impact on the Partnership Plans.

130. Defendants’ unlawful and intentional actions are not justified by a substantial or

compelling government interest and are not narrowly tailored to serve any such interest.
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131. As a proximate result of the conduct of Defendants as alleged under this Count,
Plaintiffs have engaged legal counsel to prepare and prosecute this Supplemental Complaint.
Accordingly, Plaintiffs have incurred substantial attorney’s fees and costs.

132. Plaintiffs currently are seeking that this Court reinstate the injunction vacated by
the Fifth Circuit enjoining the Defendants “from refusing to acknowledge the ERISA-status of the
[DMP] Plan or refusing to recognize the Limited Partners as working owners of DMP.”

133. Asadirect result of Defendants’ defiance of this Court’s authority as alleged under
this Count, the DMP Plan and other Partnership Plans now face imminent, irrevocable, and
irreparable harm which includes (a) the end of the DMP Plan and the Partnership Plans and the
termination of health coverage for more than 30,000 individual participants or (b) vulnerability of
the DMP Plan and Partnership Plans to regulation under state law rather than ERISA. Accordingly,
in addition to the permanent injunction sought by the First Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs also
seek and are entitled to a permanent injunction enjoining Defendants from engaging in any conduct
against Plaintiffs or third parties which is intended to circumvent, moot or otherwise thwart the
injunction or its issuance by the Court.

COUNT IV: VIOLATION OF APA
134. Plaintiffs incorporate and re-allege the allegations in paragraphs 1 to 133 as if fully

set forth herein.

135. Plaintiffs are suffering legal harm because of Defendants’ threats of imminent
litigation against the Anjo Targets and are otherwise adversely affected or aggrieved by such
action, within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 702.

136. Under 5 U.S.C. 8 706(2)(A) this Court has jurisdiction “[t]o the extent necessary to

decision and when presented to ... hold unlawful and set aside agency action, findings and
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conclusions to be (A) arbitrary, capricious, and abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance
with law.”

137.  Under 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(B) this Court has jurisdiction “[t]o the extent necessary to
decision and when presented to ... hold unlawful and set aside agency action, findings and
conclusions to be (B) contrary to constitutional right, power, privilege, or immunity.”

138. Under 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(C) this Court has jurisdiction “[t]o the extent necessary to
decision and when presented to ... hold unlawful and set aside agency action, findings and
conclusions to be (C) in excess of statutory jurisdiction, authority, or limitations, or short of
statutory right.”

139. Under 5 U.S.C. 8 706(2)(D) this Court has jurisdiction “[t]o the extent necessary to
decision and when presented to ... hold unlawful and set aside agency action, findings and
conclusions to be (D) without observance of procedure required by law.”

140. It is a clear abuse of power for Defendants, in violation of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A),
to sue or threaten imminent litigation against the Anjo Targets, not on the basis of their own actions
or inactions, or any losses to the plans which they service, but rather to obstruct, chill, deter, and
retaliate against Plaintiffs for (a) creating the DMP Plan and the Partnership Plans; (b) sending an
AO Request to Defendants; and (c) filing this suit against Defendants.

141. 1t is likewise a clear abuse of power for Defendants, in violation of 5 U.S.C. §
706(2)(B), to sue or threaten imminent litigation against the Anjo Targets, not on the basis of their
own actions or inactions, or any losses to the plans which they service, but rather to obstruct, chill,
deter, and retaliate against Plaintiffs for (a) creating the DMP Plan and the Partnership Plans; (b)

sending an AO Request to Defendants; and (c) filing this suit against Defendants.
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142. ltis also in clear excess of the authority of Defendants, in violation of 5 U.S.C. §
706(2)(C), for them to sue or threaten imminent litigation against the Anjo Targets, not on the
basis of their own actions or inactions, or any losses to the plans which they service, but rather to
obstruct, chill, deter, and retaliate against Plaintiffs for (a) creating the DMP Plan and the
Partnership Plans; (b) sending an AO Request to Defendants; and (c) filing this suit against
Defendants.

143.  Plaintiffs currently are seeking that this Court reinstate the injunction vacated by
the Fifth Circuit enjoining the Defendants “from refusing to acknowledge the ERISA-status of the
[DMP] Plan or refusing to recognize the Limited Partners as working owners of DMP.”

144.  As adirect result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct as alleged under this Count, the
DMP Plan and other Partnership Plans now face imminent, irrevocable, and irreparable harm
which includes (a) the end of the DMP Plan and the Partnership Plans and the termination of health
coverage for more than 30,000 individual participants or (b) vulnerability of the DMP Plan and
Partne